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1.1
I qualified as an Environmental Health Officer in 1975 and after working in a range of roles in London and Derby, I was appointed as Chief Environmental Health Officer at Hove Borough Council.  This designation was subsequently changed to Director of Environmental Health until Hove B.C, became Brighton & Hove Council following local government re-organization.  Since then I have provided consultancy service for many local authorities and am currently employed as an Environmental Health Officer by the London Borough of Camden.

1.2 I  was asked to accompany …….. Environmental Health Officer to …. St. Augustine’s Road, London NW1 9RL.  This property is a semi-detached house comprising basement with entrance straight into the living room, a set of external steps lead up to the ground floor.  Inside, a staircase leads up to the first and second floors.  There is a badly corroded and broken metal staircase leading down from the ground floor hall to the rear garden.  The building has pitched roof, rendered solid walls and sash windows to front 
1.3 The property is not a listed building, but is situated within the   Camden Square Conservation Area.  There is no recorded planning consent or application for established use as a house in multiple occupation.
1.4 The financial interests in the premises are very complex.  

1.4.1 The freehold owner is listed by the Land Registry as  ……………., of ….. St Augustine’s Road, but from our inspections of this property, we know that he does not reside there  (Exhibits IC/01 & 21) .  Within the last 2 years, relatives have registered an interest with the Land Registry.  Our records, and members of his family have indicated that he resides in Nigeria. 
1.4.2 The statement of …………..paragraphs 5, 6 & 7 set out the extensive involvement of Defendant 1……..acting as the ‘landlord’. The tenants showed me receipts indicating payments of rent to her (Exhibit MAW / 05 Photos 111, 113).  The Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 section 16 notice, dated 24 March 2011, and  completed on behalf of letting agent A, describes Defendant 1 as a ‘leaseholder’. Correspondence with the Council, and statements from tenants.   The corresponding section 16 notice completed by Defendant 2  makes no mention of her, but a similar notice completed on behalf of letting agent B states that they had forwarded a copy of the tenancy agreements relating to tenant….and  tenant….to Defendant 1.  The statements supplied by past and present tenants (………………..) refer to her involvement in the property as the ‘landlord’ and tenants ………..refer to money being paid to her.  Various statements refer to her aggressive manner and attempts to illegally evict them.
1.4.3 ) .   Defendant 1 appears to be a solicitor struck off by the Law Society (Exhibit IC/ 04 ) .  She was associated with, and thought to be employed by Alpha Rocks Solicitors, 8 Arlington Parade, London SW2 1RH, but on 31 March 2011, they wrote to confirm that she was no longer an employee.  The Assured Shorthold Tenancy agreement issued by  letting agent A to tenant …., dated 2nd October 2010, stated that the landlord was Defendant 1. (Exhibit IC / 42)..  The Law Society Gazette report, dated 11 November 2010, gives her full name as ………….(Exhibit IC/ 04), as also did the Court of Appeal (Criminal Division) Decision: [2009] EWCA Crim 2879 (Exhibit IC/ 53)  .  She was associated with Sunrise Property Investments, 49 Eurolink Business Centre, Effra Road, Brixton SW2 1BZ., of which her husband was a Director.  In July 2008, Defendant 1 enquired about a grant towards the conversion of then empty property into 8 studio flats .
1.4.4 The front person clearly managing the upper floors is  Defendant 2, Trading as………….. of…………….  He completed a Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 section 16 notice confirming that he was the ‘manager’ (Exhibit IC / 22) and subsequently submitted a licence application  (Exhibit IC / 51 ) on 21 April  2011.  Although notices displayed in the property used headed notepaper belonging to his company.  A HSBC Bank statement from tenant …., who rented the ground floor left hand back room (viewed from front of property), showed that  £670 rent payment was paid to Defendant 2 (Exhibit IC / 39) 
1.4.5 Letting agents A and B appear to have been used to find tenants.  Rent is paid to letting agent A, and therefore the company also fits within the Housing Act 2004, section 263(3) definition of ‘person managing’. (Exhibit MAW / 05 Photos 124 - 127) .   Tenant … confirmed that Defendant 1 was acting as landlord and that she paid her rent £693.33 per month, in respect of the ground floor front room 3, into her bank account, except the last month’s rent which was paid to Defendant 1 in cash.  The tenant’s statements confirm that Defendant 1 and  Defendant 2  were both actively involved in the management of the property.
1.4.6 The Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 section 16 notice completed on behalf of letting agent B confirmed that they had acted only as letting agents and had provided tenancies for rooms 7 & 8, and had forwarded a copy of the two tenancy agreements to Defendant 1  (Exhibit IC / 23 ) .  

1.4.7 A Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 section 16 notice served on Defendant 1, on 24 March 2011 had not been completed and returned.
1.4.8 In 21 April 2011, a Mandatory HMO licence application was submitted by  Defendant 2, the managing agent because the property met the criteria, as it was three or more storeys high, contained 5 or more unrelated people living there as their only or main residence, and provided shared amenities for its residents  (Exhibit IC / 51 ).  The Council is entitled to apply its adopted HMO Standards to licensable HMOs.  The Standards were challenged at the London Residential Property Tribunal in 2007, and the R.P.T. accepted that the standards were reasonable. (Ref: LON/00AG/HMV/2007/0004) (Exhibit MAW /01). 
2.0 House in Multiple Occupation

2.1
Our visits during March 2011 revealed that …. St Augustine’s Road  was being occupied as a house in multiple occupation.  The occupation is set out in the table below:
	Room
	Tenant(s)
	From
	To
	Rent p.c.m

	Basement
	3 tenants…….
	Feb 2009
	
	£1516.70

	GF(LH)FR
	Tenant……
	28 05 2010
	27 05 2011
	£600

	GF(RH)FR
	vacant
	
	
	

	GF(LH)BR
	Tenant …..
	12 04 2010
	
	£670

	GF(RH)BR
	Tenant ……
	22 05 2010
	
	£680

	FF(LH)BR
	2 married tenants
	March 2011
	
	£715

	FF(RH)BR
	Tenant ….
	31 12 2010
	
	£700.33

	2FFR
	Tenant ….
	4 Feb 2011
	
	£693.33

	2FBR
	2 married tenants
	2 Oct 2010
	
	


2.3 2.2
It is clear from the Council’s records that Defendant 1 did not want to licence the property, and when colleagues, who have since left the Council, investigated, the property had been vacated.  Once their investigation into whether the property was a mandatorily licensable HMO had ceased, the rooms were re-let.  I refer to an email from E.H.O……., dated 21 January 2010 stating that the property was then let as 8 bedsits, and so was a licensable HMO.  Defendant 1 replied that it was not let as bedsits, to a family of 4, and was not therefore licensable.  (Exhibit IC/ 06 ) .  The evidence submitted by letting agent B shows that it was let to at least 6 tenants by April 2010  (Exhibit IC/ 48 ) 
3.0
Housing Act 2004 Section 254 comments:
3.1
In order to show that the 2006 Management Regulations apply to this building, I compare 13 St Augustine’s Road  with HMO definition set out in section 254 of the Housing Act 2004

3.1.1
“(a) it is a converted building”:  my evidence in paragraphs 1.2 above show that 13 St Augustine’s Road  was originally constructed as a semi-detached house, comprising basement, ground, first and second floors.  The basement always appears to have been occupied as a separate flat, although it does not have a separate front door leading into a hall.  Access is via front French doors into the front room, that was used as a communal lounge. The property started life as being owner occupied by successive households, before becoming an HMO with separate basement flat.  The 1861 Census was the first census after the house was built and shows that the property was occupied by George Burstow, a wine merchant, his family, a servant and a boarder(Exhibit MAW / 02) .  By the 1881 Census, the property was still being used as a family house by a large middle class family John Theweneti, his wife Mary, her sister, 3 daughters, 4 sons, nurse and a servant (Exhibit MAW / 03), and in 1901,  it was occupied by his widow  Mary Theweneti, her sister, 3 daughters, 2 sons and 2 visitors (Exhibit MAW / 04).  
3.1  “(b) it contains one or more units of living accommodation that do not consist of a self-contained flat or flats (whether or not it also contains any such flats).”   An appeal hearing heard by the London Residential Property Tribunal service (RPT) in November and December 2006, considered the definition  of  “self-contained” under Section  254(8) of the Housing Act 2004.  The RPT confirmed that, for units of accommodation to be self-contained, all basic amenities must be behind the entrance door to the ‘flat’, and therefore be within the flat. Situations where persons had exclusive use of amenities which were not within their flat, would not meet the definition of “self contained”.  Therefore, a four storey premises meeting the requirements of The Licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation (Prescribed Descriptions) (England) Order 2006, and not consisting wholly of self-contained flats, could be subject to mandatory HMO licensing if it was suitably occupied.   In the case of …. St Augustine’s Road only the basement was a self-contained flat and that was let as a flat in multiple occupation. All of the occupants of the ground, first and second floors shared communal kitchen and sanitary facilities. Likewise the occupants of the basement flat shared a communal kitchen and communal bathroom.
3.2 “(c)  the living accommodation is occupied by persons who do not form a single household .”  We found that each of the units was occupied by persons who comprised a separate household.  None were in receipt of Housing Benefit. None of the residents sharing the property were related to, or in partnerships with another occupant.

3.3 “(d)   the living accommodation is occupied by those persons as their only or main residence or they are treated as so occupying it”.  Most of the occupiers had occupied their room for several months.  Each confirmed, during my interview with them that their room represented their only or main home in England & Wales. 

3.4 “(e) their occupation of the living accommodation constitutes the only use of that accommodation”.  Each room was furnished as living accommodation, and if it was occupied, it was used as such.  I did not witness any alternative commercial use of the rented accommodation.

3.5 “(f) rents are payable or other consideration is to be provided in respect of at least one of those persons’ occupation of the living accommodation”.  Most residents either paid their rent to Defendant 2’s company, although married couple …..paid their rent to letting agent A, and the basement tenants took their rent in cash to Alpha Rock Solicitors, for Defendant 1.  In addition to the rent, residents were required to make an additional payment towards the internet connection.
4.0
Mandatory Licensable House in Multiple Occupation

4.1
Having met the definition of HMO, the Mandatory Licensing Scheme in Part 2 of the Act applies to any HMO falling within a ‘prescribed description (section 55(2)(a)).  According to Regulation 3(2) of the Licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation (Prescribed Descriptions)(England) Order 2006 (“the 2006 Order”) an HMO is of a prescribed description for these purposes if:

(i) any part of it comprises three storeys or more;

(ii) it is occupied by five or more persons; and 

(iii) it is occupied by persons living in two or more single households

4.2 Regulation 3(3) states that the basement storey shall be taken into account when calculating whether the HMO, or any part of it, comprises three storeys or more – in the case of 13 St Augustine’s Road , the property was 4 - storeys high, including a basement.  The basement had a separate entrance.
4.3 In order to prove that a building is an HMO, Section 254 and Schedule 14, paragraph 7 of the Housing Act 2004 have to be taken into account.  In this case we have to show that at least 3 people, in at least two households resided in the building.  In previous prosecutions, relating to other properties, the Court has accepted that there has to be at least one person paying rent, or other consideration; at least 2 people living there as their only or main residence who do not form a single household and two or more of the households who occupy the living accommodation share one or more basic amenities, or the living accommodation lacks one or more basic amenities.

4.4 The building was divided into 9 let units, including the basement flat, and during our visits on 15 and 16 March 2011, I met 7 adults in 6 households. (married couple…, male tenant…, male tenant …,  and three unrelated men in the basement.  Subsequent visits were made to meet other residents.  I was unable to be present on all of the visits, so did not personally meet every resident. However, having regard to Table 1 in the case officer’s statement, I am satisfied that the premises was occupied by at least 10 households, sharing communal kitchen and sanitary facilities.  It was therefore a mandatorily licensable HMO.  The draft HMO licence application (Exhibit IC / 51 ), confirmed that the upper part of the building comprised 8 bedsits, of which 2 were vacant.  The partial licence application was submitted by Defendant 2, but made no mention of Defendant 2’s involvement in the property.
4.5 The property provided 8 let rooms in the ground to second floors, and the basement comprised 3 bedrooms, lounge, kitchen and bathroom.  There were communal kitchens in the basement and first  floor, and communal lounges in the basement and first floors .  Every resident that I met was living there as their only or main residence, and most had lived there for some time.  Some were able to produce an Assured Short-hold tenancy contract, but subsequently they were allegedly asked to return their contracts. There was no resident landlord and residents received no services such as change of bed-linen or food.  They were charged extra for an internet link.  The layout plans are (Exhibit IC / 34) 
4.6 The Council’s H.M.O. standards (Exhibit IC / 37) were re-calculated from scratch using various Government documents relating to the ergonomic requirements of accommodation including those published by the Building Research Establishment.  For example, a single bed is 1m wide by 2m long, but you also need circulation space around it.   The same applies to all other standard furniture in a bedroom / living room, and where the unit is accommodating a person as their home, it has to accommodate all of their possessions.   The Council’s adopted standards were considered by the Residential Property Tribunal in 2007, and endorsed.
5 HMO Licence 

5.1 In order to be a mandatorily licensable house in multiple occupation, the property has to be occupied by at least five individuals living in at least 3 separate households, and the property has to be at least 3 storeys in height. Furthermore, the residents have to share amenities, or amenities are missing

5.2 The property comprising basement, ground, first and second floors was 4 storeys in height, the residents shared communal kitchens and sanitary accommodation.

5.3 In August 2006, the property was being managed by Regent 2000 Properties Limited and they submitted an HMO Licence Application.  That licence application contained various errors: describing the property as detached, constructed between 1946 and 1964, comprising ground, first, second and third floors, not converted to form self-contained units, one shared kitchen.  It was occupied by 7 tenants. (Exhibit IC / 01) . Then at the end of February 2007  letting agent C confirmed that they had ceased being involved in the management of the property.  Responsibility for management had transferred to Ann Francis & Co Solicitors of…….  They confirmed that a Mr …… of Sunrise Properties & Investments Ltd would co-ordinate refurbishment works.  Ann Francis & Co confirmed that they would submit a new licence application on completion of the works, but did not do so.  The quotation submitted by Sunrise Properties & Investments Ltd was to “convert the house into a 3-bedroom, 2 receptions, with a ground floor toilet including renovation of old bath and kitchen”.  (Exhibit IC / 07 ) Ann Francis & Co confirmed that this was to “return the property to a single family dwelling” (Exhibit IC / 07).  
5.4 The Law Society Gazette, on the 11 November 2010, confirmed that the SDT had ordered that Defendant 1 should be struck off the role  amongst other things ‘because she had provided misleading publicity with regard to the firm of Ann Francis & Co and had improperly described Ann Francis & Co as a solicitors’ partnership when it was in fact a business carried on by Defendant 1 as her business throughout and even before she had been admitted to the roll’.  In the report from the disciplinary hearing, she was also accused of giving evidence to an employment tribunal that the tribunal had considered not to be honest. Exhibit IC / 04).  
5.5 When the partially completed licence application was submitted on 14 March 2011, the application form stated that the upper floors of the property were let to 7 people in 6 households, so there was no argument that it should have been licensed under Part 2 of the Housing Act 2004.  This was confirmed in a letter accompanying the re-submitted licence application on 21 April 2011  (Exhibit IC/ 36 ) .  
5.6 Between September 2007 and May 2008, the upper floors appeared to be vacant, with no evidence of refurbishment.  In January 2008, Ann Francis & Co ceased to be involved. The correspondence was with Defendant 1 in her role as ‘landlord’, as a visit by …….on 7 April 2008 revealed that the tenants in the basement were paying rent to her.  It is clear that Defendant 1 was aware of the criteria for Mandatory HMO licensing.  In January 2010, ………….., the officer dealing with empty properties, confirmed to a colleague EHO …….., that she had been informed that the property was to be let as 8 bedsits.  …… emailed Defendant 1 on 21 January 2010.  (Exhibit IC / 14 ) , making it clear that a HMO licence application would be needed, as well as sufficient amenities.  No licence application was submitted by Defendant 1, and eventually an incomplete application was submitted by Defendant 2  on 21 March 2011.
6
Inspection on 15 March 2011
6.1 ….. , the case officer asked me to accompany him to the 13 St Augustine’s Road on 15 March 2011.  Another colleague ……… also  accompanied us.  
6.2 During visit I took digital photographs, and following the visit I took the card containing the images to the Snappy Snaps laboratory at 76 Marchmont Street, London WC1N 1AG, where they were downloaded into the computerized printing equipment and printed on site.  I was given a receipt and returned after the allotted processing time to collect the batch of en-prints.  The printer signed a statement confirming that during the printing process the image content had not been changed.  Later I put the en-prints into a labeled portfolio (Exhibit MAW / 05) .
6.3 We therefore inspected the common parts.  In the entrance hall, there were two divan beds leaning against walls and substantially obstructing the escape route.(Exhibit MAW / 05 photos 6, 18, 55) . 
6.4 The front entrance door was poorly fitting, with damaged frame and gap under the door sufficient to allow rodents to enter.  The stone threshold was part missing. (Exhibit MAW / 05 photos 7, 8, 10, 11, 12, 13, 84) . 
6.5 The fire detection and alarm system control panel exhibited faults indicating that the system had been silenced and disabled.  This meant that the fire detection and alarm system would not operate properly in the event of a genuine fire (Exhibit MAW / 05 Photos 4, 15) .    The statement of tenant …..  confirmed that “the fire alarm was always faulty”.
6.6 In addition to the divan bed bases and mattresses there was a Beko fridge with a television on it, none of which should have been present within the ‘protected escape route’. (Exhibit MAW / 05 photos 6, 16, 17) .   A gas boiler was also in the rear area of the hall
6.7 The doors to the ground floor let rooms were not closed tightly against their door stops, and were not fitted with intumescent strips/smoke seals.  This meant that the doors were not half-hour fire-resisting.  In the event of a fire, the weakest point in a door/frame assembly is the gap between the door and frame.  To improve the fire rating of the door, intumescent strips, which also act as smoke seals, are fitted to the upright and top door edges.  In the event of a fire, they swell to fill the gap between the door and its frame. (Exhibit MAW / 05 photos 19, 20, 56, 57)
6.8 There was a ground floor shower, with broken-tiled drying area to the rear.  The tiled surround to the shower tray was subject to black mould growth. The shower compartment had no mechanical ventilation (Exhibit MAW / 05 photos 21, 22, 23) .
6.9 The staircase balustrades were in a poor condition, particularly at first floor level, with missing banisters at the top of the ground to first floor flight, first floor landing, and base of first to second floor flight.  These missing banisters weakened the handrails. (Exhibit MAW / 05 Photos 27, 28, 45, 46 ) .
6.10 Off the ground floor hall, there was an old cast iron staircase leading down to the rear garden.  This staircase was very dangerous.  Virtually every step tread was broken, and pieces of timber were loosely  lying across the broken brackets. (Exhibit MAW / 05 Photos 58, 74-82) .
6.11 The rear garden contained more divan beds, a barbeque, bricks, bicycles, chair, and personal possessions such as a suitcase.  The beds, brick pile and possessions were likely to provide harbourage to rodents.  (Exhibit MAW / 05 Photos 60, 62) .
6.12 Against the rear main wall there was a blocked gully, and in the basement well there was a resulting pool of sewage (Exhibit MAW / 05 Photos 68, 69, 70) .  I checked the nearby manhole, which was partially choked with animal fat (Exhibit MAW / 05 Photo 72) .
6.13 Above the blockage, a plastic vent pipe projected through a large hole in the rear main wall, just below a balcony.  It appeared to ventilate a boiler and did not seem to have been properly installed by a Gas Safe qualified engineer. (Exhibit MAW / 05 Photo 71) .  There was a missing section of eaves gutter to the rear addition roof (Exhibit MAW / 05 Photo 83 ) .
6.14 There was a hole through the ceiling in the communal first floor toilet, reducing the fire separation between storeys. (Exhibit MAW / 05 Photos 29, 30) .  The communal bathroom bath had a loose side panel and no mechanical ventilation (Exhibit MAW / 05 Photos 32, 33) .  A separate first floor shower compartment also had no mechanical ventilation and suffered from extensive mould growth (Exhibit MAW / 05 Photos 36-38) .
6.15 The first floor left hand front room was used as a communal lounge.  Off this room there was a shared kitchen.  Whilst the fitted kitchen was fairly modern, it contained a clothes drier, which residents confirmed was defective.  If used, it allegedly tripped out the power circuits (Exhibit MAW / 05 Photos 40, 41 ) .  The kitchen contained another gas boiler (Exhibit MAW / 05 Photo 43 ) .
6.16 Off the second floor landing an un-locked matchboard door provided access to the roof space which was used for storage of personal items.  Cupboards off the ‘protected route’ should be half-hour fire-resisting and locked shut.  They should be labeled ‘ keep shut’.  (Exhibit MAW / 05 Photos 48 - 51) .  Above the second floor landing there was a roof-light with cracked glazing (Exhibit MAW / 05 Photos 52, 53) .  The second floor landing pendant light had a loose ceiling rose. (Exhibit MAW / 05 Photo 54) .
6.17 We were allowed access into the basement flat, which was in very poor condition.  Most of the rooms exhibited structural dampness, which was not surprising given the pool of sewage on the outside and the defective external render.  I could see no evidence of an effective damp proof course. (Exhibit MAW / 05 Photos 98, 99, 104, 121, 122) .  There was also an unventilated bathroom with walls and ceiling covered with mould.  The mould spores can trigger various lung conditions, such as asthma and house mites feed on the mould and in turn their droppings create allergic reactions in susceptible individuals. (Exhibit MAW / 05 Photos 93, 94, 95)  .
6.18 There were defective lights – including the ceiling pendant light in the kitchen, which was not working and when I enquired, I was informed that it had stopped working after water came through the ceiling  (Exhibit MAW / 05 Photos 87, 88) . The hall light was not operating because it had no bulb. Its ceiling rose cover had fallen, exposing the live terminals (Exhibit MAW / 05 Photos 91, 102 ) .  The electrical system contained some old components (Exhibit MAW / 05 Photo 103 ) .  There appeared to be no adequate fire precautions.  None of the doors appeared to be half-hour, fire-resisting, some had missing door closers.  There was no fire detection system, as the sole battery operated smoke detector, situated in the hall was inoperative.  The basement was not connected to the fire detection and alarm system in the upper floors  (Exhibit MAW / 05 Photos 100, 101, 102, 105, 106, 108, 109, 116, 117) .
6.19 During the course of the inspection, I met  tenant …..in room E, and tenant ….and two other men in the basement flat.
7. Inspection on 16 March 2011
7.1 As many of the tenants were out at work on the 15th March, we returned on the 16th March.  The fire detection and alarm control panel exhibited the same faults and was still muted. (Exhibit MAW / 05 Photo 140) .  I met ……………   in the  first floor left hand back room E.  He showed me a business card issued by letting agent A.  He had not been issued with a tenancy agreement.  (Exhibit MAW / 05 Photos 123 - 127) .
7.2 I checked the drain manhole, which was partially choked with fat, and the gully by the rear main wall was still blocked.  A colleague successfully tried to clear the gully (Exhibit MAW / 05 Photos 128 - 130) . The waste pipe serving the basement bathroom discharged on to the ground beneath the external iron staircase. (Exhibit MAW / 05 Photos 131 - 132 ) .
7.3 The external staircase was in a dangerous condition. A tenant (…..) informed me that his mother had injured her leg when she visited in 2010.  The cast iron treads were broken as well as the supporting brackets.  Instead of properly repairing the steps, somebody had used planks of wood to form steps, mainly balanced on the remains of the iron brackets.  (Exhibit MAW / 05 Photos 133 - 138) .  Above the steps there was vegetation growing out of the flank wall (Exhibit MAW / 05 Photo 139 ) .  

7.4 During the visit I met ……who occupied the ground floor left hand front room, married couple ….who rented the first floor left hand back room E, and tenant …. who rented the ground floor left hand back room.  I took statements from these residents.  Tenant ….confirmed that the room next to his had recently been vacated, the ground floor left band back room was let to Joe grant and the other rear room to tenant ….. the second floor rooms were let to a Portuguese couple and an Eastern European girl respectively, the first floor right hand back room was let to ……giving a total occupation of basement – 3 men, ground floor -  3, first floor - 3, second floor 3.  The first floor front rooms comprised the shared lounge and kitchen.  
8. Inspection on 28 March 2011

8.1. 
On the 28th March 2011, the  fire detection and alarm control panel still exhibited the same faults and was still silenced (Exhibit MAW / 05 Photo 142 ) 
8.2
During the visit I interviewed ….., who occupied the first floor right hand back room.  He showed me text messages from Raphael giving him instructions to pay his rent into different bank accounts.  I photographed the messages on his phone. (Exhibit MAW / 05 Photos 148, 149) .  I also photographed his tenancy agreement issued by Defendant 2’s company. (Exhibit MAW / 05 Photos 153 - 158) .  The £693 monthly rent was to be paid to Defendant 2 company’s bank account.
8.3
The divan beds had been moved from the ground floor hall, but the fridge with television on top was still partially obstructing the ground floor hall (Exhibit MAW / 05 Photo 143) .
8.4
The door to the communal first floor lounge was not self-closing (Exhibit MAW / 05 Photo 146 ) .  The staircase banisters were still missing (Exhibit MAW / 05 Photo 147) . Other ground, first and second floor doors were not half-hour fire-resisting and properly self-closing (Exhibit MAW / 05 Photos 151, 152, 213, 218, 223, 224, 230 – 234, 236, 237) .  Also the second floor left hand front room had plain, non-fire-resisting glazing above the door (Exhibit MAW / 05 Photo 229) 
8.5
Whilst waiting for other residents to arrive, I visited the basement flat occupied by at least 3 men.  The walls suffered from rising or penetrating dampness, there was extensive mould growth. (Exhibit MAW / 05 Photos 161, 162, 163, 167, 178, 179, 186, 187, 189, 190 – 193, 1298 – 201, 203) . 
8.6
None of the doors were half-hour fire-resisting or self-closing (Exhibit MAW / 05 Photos 160, 164, 165, 168, 169, 170, 185, 196, 206, 207, 208, 209) . There was no fire detection and alarm system (Exhibit MAW / 05 Photos 183 - 184) .  The residents smoked, which increased the risk of a fire (Exhibit MAW / 05 Photos 159, 195 ) .
8.7
However, the broken tiles in the ground floor shower compartment had been replaced (Exhibit MAW / 05 Photo 238 ) .
8.8
The rendering on the outside of the building at the front and sides was cracked and un-keyed.  This meant that rainwater was drawn into the render by capilliary action. Then trapped behind, making the underlying brick walls wet (Exhibit MAW / 05 Photos 240 – 243) .
9
Post 28 March 2011
9.1  
Following the visit, I updated the spreadsheet of apparent contraventions of the management regulations and Iain Clark served a Housing Act 2004 section 235 notices on Letting agent A, Defendant 1 c/o Alpha Rocks Solicitors , Letting agent B and Defendant 2 at his company’s office address..  As the notices were not responded to, Letters of Alleged Offence (Exhibit IC / 32 ) , were sent to both Defendants and  letting agent B,  each with a copy of the updated spreadsheet (Exhibit IC / 32 ) by first class post on the 10 May 2011.  The PACE questions in the Letters of Alleged Offence were not responded to.
9.2
Because we had been unable to inspect every part of the premises on 15, 16 & 28 March , the case officer made further appointments to access the remainder of the house, but due to other commitments I was unable to be present.  Following each visit, any additional photographs were again taken to the Snappy Snaps laboratory to be printed and the en-prints were added to (Exhibit MAW / 05) .
9.3
I exhibit my inspection notes from the various visits (Exhibit MAW / 06) .
10     Offences
In order to assist the court I seek to prove each offence in the order in which they were laid before the court where the reference to Defendant 2 offence 1 = FB/01 and Defendant 1 offence 1 = AF/01:  
Offences FB/01 & AF/01   (failure to apply for HMO  licence)
10.1
The semi-detached property was 4 storeys high, with shared kitchen and sanitary facilities.  The occupation on the 15 & 16 March 2011 comprised 12 adults in 10 households:
	Room
	Tenant(s)
	From
	To
	Rent p.c.m

	Basement
	3 men
	Feb 2009
	
	£1517.20

	GF(LH)FR
	man
	28 05 2010
	27 05 2011
	£600

	GF(RH)FR
	vacant
	
	
	

	GF(LH)BR
	man
	12 04 2010
	
	£670

	GF(RH)BR
	man
	22 05 2010
	
	£680

	FF(LH)BR
	Married couple
	March 2011
	
	£715

	FF(RH)BR
	man
	31 12 2010
	
	£700.33

	2FFR
	woman
	4 Feb 2011
	
	£693.33

	2FBR
	Married couple
	2 Oct 2010
	
	


10.1.1 The property therefore met the criteria for a Mandatory Licensable house in multiple .1 but was not licensed.  The statements ……., who acted as managing agent and to Defendant 1 of …… who tenants referred to as the ‘landlord’.  Defendant 2 fulfilled the role of “person managing”, and Defendant 1 fulfilled the role of “person having control” and may also fulfill the role of “person managing”, as defined in section 263 of the Housing Act 2004.  Section 72(1) states that a person commits an offence if he is a person having control or managing an HMO which is required to be licensed under Part 2 of the Act, but is not so licensed.  The case officer’s statement paragraphs 2.3, 2.5, 2.6, 2.7, 2.10, 2.14 & 2.15 show that the defendants were aware of the need to submit an HMO licence application when the occupation exceeded 4 persons.  It was clear from statements from tenants who were in residence, or had left, that the property had been let to 5 or more residents for at least the previous 12 months.   This was confirmed by evidence provided by  letting agent B showing that they had placed at least 6 tenants in the property in April 2010  (Exhibit IC / 48).  A complete licence application was eventually submitted on 21 April 2011 (Exhibit IC / 51).
Offence FB/02   (Fire precautions in ground to 2nd floors)
10.2
The design of fire precautions in houses in multiple occupation is based on the principle of compartmentalization, with either 30 minutes structural fire-resistance between lettings and between risk rooms and the ‘protected fire escape route’.  To achieve the 30 minutes fire integrity, the doors between each of the ‘risk rooms’ and the ‘protected escape route’ should be capable of resisting the passage of a fire for at least 30 minutes.  The weak point is the gap between the door edges and frame.  In order to determine whether given designs of door/frame combinations are capable of achieving the standard, examples have been subject to British Standard fire in test rigs in specially equipped laboratories.  Such doors are usually marked by coloured plugs or labels.  None of the key doors in ….. St Augustine’s Road showed any indication that they were fire door designs which have been tested.  The doors were not fitted with intumescent strip/smoke seals along the upright and top edges.  These strips are needed to achieve the standard, because they swell when exposed to heat and fill the gap between the door and frame.  For the doors to provide any fire-resistance they need to be fitted with self-closing devices capable of fully closing the door, by over-riding the door latch, if necessary.

10.2.1 On the 15 & 16 March 2011, the doors to the ground floor let rooms were not closed tightly against their door stops, and were not fitted with intumescent strips/smoke seals.  This meant that the doors were not half-hour fire-resisting . (Exhibit MAW / 05 photos 19, 20, 56, 57).  

10.2.2  There was no half-hour fire-resisting self-closing door fitted to the first floor front lounge, and the door between the first floor front kitchen and adjacent lounge was not half-hour fire-resisting, because it was not fitted with intumescent strips/smoke seals.  These represented the two rooms with the highest risk of fire.  The escape staircase was not protected at all from a fire starting in the lounge (Exhibit MAW / 05 photos 44).  

10.2.3 The door to the ground floor left hand front room had a missing ‘Perko’ self-closer. (Exhibit MAW / 05 Photo 141).  The door to the first floor right hand back room had had a piece of wood fixed to the top of it.  It was not a certified tested design of fire-door. (Exhibit MAW / 05 photos 151, 152).  

10.2.4  The ground floor right hand back room door was not half-hour fire-resisting or self-closing.  It was a lightweight door hung on 2 hinges (Exhibit MAW / 05 photos 213, 218, 223, 224).  

10.2.5  The ‘protected route’ should not contain anything flammable and any storage cupboards adjacent to it should either be maintained empty, or should e provided with a locked half-hour fire-resisting door.  There was a door leading from the second floor landing to the roof space which contained potentially flammable personal possessions.  This door was made of  thin matchboard, and so was not half-hour fire-resisting or locked shut and labeled “keep shut”. (Exhibit MAW / 05 photos 47 - 51).  

10.2.6  I was not able to gain access into the second floor rooms, to inspect the doors, on the days that I visited, but the ground floor left hand front room had plain, non-fire-resisting glazed panel over the door in addition to other defects.  The door to the vacated ground floor right hand front room had a hole through it beside the lock, so had minimal fire resistance. (Exhibit MAW / 05 photos 229 - 234).  
Offence AF/02   (fire precautions in basement)
10.3
On 28 March 2011, I visited the basement flat, which was occupied by three un-related men:  …….  The doors did not appear to be solid doors of sufficient thickness (44mm), and were not fitted with intumescent strips/smoke seals.  They would not have been rated as 30 minute fire-resisting doors.  Proper fire doors are so heavy that they have to be hung on three metal hinges.  Most of the basement doors were hung on two.  None of the basement doors were properly self-closing.  The door between the front lounge, in which smoking took place, and the central hallway, had a missing ‘Perko’ closer  The door was hollow where a lock had been.(Exhibit MAW / 05 photos 159, 160, 164, 165, 168, 169).  
10.3.1
 The door to the basement  kitchen also had a missing door closer (Exhibit MAW / 05 photo 170, 196).  The bedroom doors were not self-closing (Exhibit MAW / 05 photos 182, 185, 206, 207, 208).  The basement tenants had paid their rent in cash by taking it to the Alpha Rocks solicitor’s office where they believed Defendant 1 worked.  Although their Assured Shorthold tenancy agreement had expired in February, they had not received any legally valid notice to quit.  Furthermore, because the property was an unlicensed HMO, the Housing Act 2004, section 98 precludes the giving of a “section 21 notice” for recovery of possession on termination of a shorthold tenancy
Offence FB/03   (fire escape routes not kept clear)
10.4
On each of the days we visited, by virtue of the key missing door to the first floor front lounge, if any fire started in that room i.e. the television caught fire, all of the potentially flammable furniture and effects in that lounge could ignite and there was nothing to prevent the fire and toxic smoke spreading out into the ‘protected escape route’.  Similarly, the storage of potentially flammable items in the roof space, with only a thin matchboard, unlocked door separating the roof from the second floor landing meant that these effects could add to any  fire fuel  (Exhibit MAW / 05 Photos 44 , 47 – 51, 144 - 146)  .  The ‘protected fire escape route’ should have been kept free from potentially flammable items at all times.  On the 15 March 2011, the ground floor hall contained 2 divan beds and a large refrigerator which substantially obstructed the means of escape  (Exhibit MAW / 05 photos 6, 16, 17, 18, 55) . 
Offences FB/04 and AF/03   (defective fire detection and alarm system)
10.5
On the 15th, 16th and 28th March 2011, the fire detection and alarm system exhibited faults, including the fact that it had been muted.  This meant that the system would not ‘sound’ in the event of a fire.  It was therefore not fully operational.  Also, the system did not extend to the basement flat.  The basement flat had no fire detectors, as the only detector – a battery single point smoke detector in the middle hall was in-operational. (Exhibit MAW / 05 photos 87, 91, 92, 98, 102, 140, 142, 183, 184)  .
Offences FB/05 and AF/04   (hazard from external staircase to rear garden)
10.6
On the 15th, 16th and 28th  March 2011, I the cast iron staircase leading down from the ground floor hall to the rear garden was in a dangerous condition.  The residents had used the barbeque etc in the rear garden, and  ……  informed me that during a visit in 2010  ( see tenant’s statement dated 18 March 2011)  Attached to two iron/steel strings were cast iron brackets designed to support cast iron perforated treads.   Over many years the staircase had been neglected and the perforated cast iron treads had broken.  The persons managing were well aware of the condition of this staircase because loose pieces of wood had been cut to fit onto the remains of the brackets, and nearly every tread was defective (Exhibit MAW / 05 photos 58, 74 - 82, 97, 133 - 138, 204) .  

Offence AF/05   (inadequate fire precautions in basement)
10.7
On 15th and 28th March 2011, the basement flat was let without adequate means of escape from fire.  The design of the flat meant that there were locked French doors in the right hand back bedroom, leading to the rear garden, which is not considered to be a ‘ place of safety’, because it is fully enclosed.  The other route involves going through the front living room, where residents smoke, through the French doors to the front of the property.  This room and the kitchen represent the highest potential risk of fire.  If a fire does take hold in the basement front right hand living room, residents are potentially trapped.  None of the rooms have adequate ‘fire escape windows’, and all rooms would be considered to e ‘inner room’.  These inner rooms are usually considered unacceptable because an occupant has to pass through a high risk room to escape to a place of safety – the street.  None of the rooms were provided with half-hour fire-resisting, self-closing fire doors, so that any fire, and associated toxic smoke, could spread rapidly throughout the flat.  The flat was not provided with any operational fire detection and alarm system providing early warning of a fire, and allowing residents to escape before their escape route was blocked.  (Exhibit MAW / 05 photos 85 – 118, 159, 160, 164 – 166, 168 – 170, 181 – 185, 194, 196, 206 – 210, 213) .  
Offence FB/06   (blocked gully causing build-up of sewage)
10.8
On the 15th  & 16th  March 2011, the gully and associated drainage system to the rear of the basement was choked.  This resulted in a pool of sewage in the rear basement well, which saturated the brickwork of the rear main wall and stank.  The waste pipe serving the basement bathroom discharged effluent onto the ground instead of into the foul drainage system and there was a missing section of eaves gutter to the rear main roof.  The rear manhole was partially choked with fat  although the front manhole was clear (Exhibit MAW / 05 photos 68, 69, 70, 72, 73,  83, 119, 128, 129, 130, 131, 132) .  
Offences FB/07 and AF/06   (failure to supply a gas safety certificate on written request)
10.10  On the 10 May 2011,  Housing Act 2004, section 235 notices requiring various documents to be supplied were served, requiring gas safety test reports to be supplied in respect of each gas appliance in the property, on Defendant 2 and Defendant 1 respectively by first class post (Exhibit IC / 32).   The  defendants did not supply the gas safety test reports requested.  

Offences FB/08 and AF/07 (failure to provide electrical test certificate in respect of all fixed power and lighting circuits, on written request
10.11   On the 10 May 2011,  Housing Act 2004, section 235 notices requiring various documents to be supplied, including electrical test reports Defendant 2 and Defendant 1 respectively by first class post (Exhibit IC / 32 ).   The  defendants did not supply the electrical periodic safety test reports requested.   

Offence AF/08   (failure to keep basement bathroom in good & clean decorative repair)
10.12
On the 28 March 2011, the basement bathroom  was covered with mould (Exhibit MAW / 05 photos 199, 200, 201, 203 ) .  Mould spores are hazardous to any individual who is susceptible, and at least one of the tenants suffered from asthma (Exhibit MAW / 05 photo 188) .  The problem was exacerbated by the absence of mechanical ventilation.  The flat was occupied by 3 separate tenants on that date.  Although I subsequently found out that their tenancy agreement had expired, they were unable to show me any legal documents comprising a ‘notice to quit’, but explained that an attempt had been made by a Defendant 1 with 3 black men to physically evict them without notice.  As the property was an un-licensed licensable house in multiple occupation, if any Landlord and Tenant Act Section 21 notice had been served, it would not be enforced by the County Court, by virtue of section 98 of the Housing Act 2004.
10.12.1 The Government Operating Guidance in relation to the Housing Health and Safety Rating System, under Part 1 of the Housing Act 2004, states:  

“Both the detritus from house dust mites and mould spores are potent airborne allergens.  Exposure to high concentrations of these allergens over a prolonged period will cause sensitization of atopic individuals (those with a pre-determined genetic tendency to sensitisation), and may sensitise non-atopic individuals.  Once a person is sensitized, relatively low concentrations of airborne allergen can trigger allergic symptoms such as rhinitis, conjunctivitis, eczema, cough and wheeze.  For a sensitized person, repeated exposure can lead to asthma, and it appears that the severity of the asthma intensifies with increasing humidity, house dust mite and mould levels.
10.12.1 Deaths from all forms of asthma in the UK are around 1500 per year, of which around 60% has been attributed to dust mite allergy.  20 – 30% of asthma sufferers are sensitized to mould spores.

10.12.2 Although less significant statistically in health terms, spores of many moulds and fungi can be allergenic.  The spores can also be carcinogenic, toxic and cause infections; the potential health effect varying with species.  Fungal infection, whilst not common, is usually associated with those vulnerable to infection.  Some fungi, particularly when in high concentrations, can also colonise the airways of susceptible individuals, particularly asthmatics.  Toxins from some moulds (mycotoxins) can cause nausea and diarrhoea, can suppress the immune system, and have been implicated in cancers..  Although uncommon, these are serious if they occur”.
10.12.3 The Government Guidance recommends remedial measures:  “The dwelling should be ale to cope with normal occupant moisture producing activities without persistently high relative humidities.  There should be provision for the safe removal of moisture-laden air during peak production.  This should include extraction during cooking or bathing, either by mechanical means, or passive stack ventilation.

10.12.4 There should be sufficient and appropriate means of ventilation to deal with moisture generated by normal domestic activities without the need to open windows.  Opening windows can result in heat loss, noise, and may be a security risk.”

 Offence FB/09)   (failure to maintain first floor shower compartment in good and clean decorative repair)
10.13  On the 15 March 2011, the first floor shared shower compartment was also without mechanical ventilation and was affected by the growth of mould, but to a lesser extent than that in the basement bathroom  (Exhibit MAW / 05 photo 57) .  

Offence AF/09  (failure to maintain basement living room in good repair)
10.11 On the 28 March 2011, the wall plaster to the external walls of the basement front living room were found to be cracked and damp.  The dampness appeared to be structural dampness, because the damp meter that I used measures dampness buried within the wall to a depth of 4”.  The property appeared to be without a damp proof course, but the height of the dampness meant that there were other causes of structural dampness.  The exterior of the property was rendered and painted grey.  The rendering was in a poor condition, with areas of cracked and un-keyed render.  If the render contains hairline cracks, moisture is drawn in by capilliary action and is then trapped behind the render, making the wall damp.  The render may also bridge any old damp proof course, if present. (Exhibit MAW / 05 photos 161, 162, 163, 167) .  
Offence FB/10  (failure to maintain staircase banisters)
10.12 On the 15, 16 and 28 March 2011 the balustrade to the ground to second floor staircase had a number of missing banisters, weakening the balustrade.  These were concentrated around the first floor landing (Exhibit MAW / 05 photos 27, 28, 44, 45, 46, 147 ) .   

Offence AF/10  (failure to maintain basement kitchen pendant light)
10.13  On the 15 and 28 March 2011, the basement shared kitchen pendant light fitting was not maintained in good and clean decorative repair on 15 and 28 March 2011, because the pendant light was not working.  The tenants informed me that it had stopped working after water came through the ceiling a few weeks previously, and confirmed that they had complained about it.  As no repairs had been carried out they had rigged up a portable light on top of the wall cupboards (Exhibit MAW / 05 photos 85, 87, 88, 91, 174, 175 ) .  

Offence AF/11   (failure to maintain basement back bedroom walls)
10.14  On the 15 and 28 March 2011, the basement back bedroom walls were very damp.  This was not surprising because a pool of sewage had been lying against the exterior of the rear main wall on 15 & 16 March.  The strip of render around the base of the wall was part missing, allowing the brickwork to become saturated.  The flank wall may have been soaked by discharges from the bathroom waste pipe, which discharged on to the ground adjacent to the wall, beneath the external staircase. (Exhibit MAW / 05 photos 68, 69, 70, 98, 99, 129, 130, 131, 132, 187, 189, 191, 192, 193, 204 ) .  

Offences FB/11 and AF/12  (failure to supply documents requested by a Housing Act 2004, section 235 notice)
10.15  Following non-compliance with the first Housing Act 2004 section 235 notice, a second such notice was separately served on Defendant 1 and Defendant 2 on the 10 April 2011, requiring that documents be brought to the Town Hall on 25 May 2011, but again they ignored the requirements of this notice and none of the documents which were required to be submitted to the Council were received.

10.16 I believe that whilst Defendant 1 sought to manage the property behind the scenes, she went out of her way to hide her involvement from Camden Council.  She employed Defendant 2 as a ‘front’ to manage the upper storeys, but continued to be involved when she wanted tenants to leave the premises.
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